PROGESTERONE RECEPTORS AND Sp/KRÜPPEL-LIKE FAMILY MEMBERS IN THE UTERINE ENDOMETRIUM

Rosalia C.M. Simmen and Frank A. Simmen

Arkansas Children's Nutrition Center and Department of Physiology & Biophysics, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, Arkansas 72202

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Sp/KLF members and progesterone receptor isoforms
- 4. Expression of Sp/KLF members in the uterine endometrium
- 5. Transcriptional activity of Sp/KLF members on progesterone-regulated genes
- 6. Co-activators and co-repressors of progesterone receptor and Sp/KLF transactivation functions
- 7. Regulation of Sp/KLF gene expression
- 8. Perspectives
- 9. Acknowledgments
- 10. References

1. ABSTRACT

Sp/KLF family members, of which at least 20 distinct nuclear proteins are known to date, serve as transcription factors by binding to GC-enriched sites within target gene promoters. These molecules regulate diverse cellular processes such as proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis, via their interactions with various other nuclear proteins in promoter- and cell-context-dependent pathways to effect transactivation or transrepression. Recent studies indicate that Sp-family members may functionally interact with ligand-activated nuclear receptors, especially those for steroid hormones. This review provides a discussion of the putative mechanisms and important participants involved in the crosstalk between selected members of this family and the receptor for the pregnancy hormone progesterone, and the relevant outcomes to the control of the transcriptional network in the uterine endometrium.

2. INTRODUCTION

The mammalian uterus is dependent on numerous extracellular signals for its growth and development. At maturity when it undergoes the highly orchestrated cycles of proliferation and differentiation associated with the estrous cycle and pregnancy, and during aging, when these physiological processes begin to slow down and eventually

shut off, key signaling molecules act in synergy to regulate the temporal and cell-type specific expression of various gene products that are requisite for the control of these molecular events. A central participant in these regulatory processes is the ovarian steroid progesterone, which albeit normally considered the pregnancy hormone, is nonetheless, closely associated with puberty, the estrous cycle, and reproductive aging. The profound effects of progesterone on cell growth, development, differentiation, and homeostasis are mediated through its specific nuclear receptor, a ligand-activated transcription factor (1). The events initiated by the binding of progesterone to its receptor and leading to the transcriptional activation of numerous target genes have been the subject of excellent reviews (2,3) and will not be described here. However, there are as yet pockets of unknowns in the current understanding of how progesterone mediates its diverse biological effects and even more so, in the identities of genes and their products that constitute progesterone receptor-responsive pathways. More recently, the possible participation of other transcription factors in steroid hormone signaling mechanisms has been reported (4, 5). In this review, we examine the potential contribution of the Sp/KLF family of DNA-binding proteins to the transcriptional control of pregnancy-associated uterine

genes that are correspondingly, targets of ligand-bound progesterone receptor (PR), and demonstrate possible mechanisms of crosstalk in these transcription factors' signaling events.

3. Sp/KLF MEMBERS AND PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR ISOFORMS

The Sp/KLF family members have received much attention over the last 5 years due in part, to the increasing documentation of their existence and involvement in the molecular mechanisms underlying cellular proliferation and differentiation in many tissues and specialized cell types (6-8). There are currently five Sp (Sp1, Sp2, Sp3, Sp4 and Sp5), and fifteen KLF, family members (8). The latter derived its name from its similarity with the *Drosophila* segmentation gene Krüppel, mutations of which cause abnormalities in establishment of body parts (9). Sp and KLF proteins are quite distinct in their primary sequences (10), however, they are classified as belonging to the same transcription factor family based on the presence of three Cys2/His2 zinc finger motifs in their carboxyterminal regions that confer preferential binding affinity for GC/GT-rich sequences within target gene promoters. Members of this family have distinct amino-terminal regions, which contain unique transactivation domains mediating protein-protein interactions requisite for their transcriptional regulatory actions. Sp-family members are characterized by glutamine- and to a limited extent, serine/threonine-rich domains within their N-termini, while there is considerable variability in the corresponding region among KLF members, which may contain acidic, prolinerich, serine-rich, hydrophobic and other types of transactivation domains (7). The functional consequences of these differences are most apparent in the distinct transcriptional activity of family members, which can behave as trans-activators or trans-repressors, depending on cell context and promoter architecture (8). Sp/KLF family members also exhibit substantial differences in their sizes. due mostly to variations in the lengths of their N-termini (11). Sp1 is the largest, consisting of 717 amino acids, while KLF9/BTEB1 is the smallest, with 244 amino acids. Other family members have molecular sizes in between. The ability of KLF members to function as transcriptional activators or repressors does not appear to be related to the lengths of their respective N-terminal regions, but as will be discussed below, is more a function of the specific sequences contained within and which mediate interactions with distinct nuclear protein domains.

The KLF members are designated as xKLF or KLF1-15, where x refers to the tissue in which the gene was first identified (e.g. EKLF, erythroid KLF; GKLF, gut KLF), and 1 to 15, to the chronological order by which the gene was first reported (e.g. EKLF/ KLF1). Others have been given names based on their functional DNA-binding properties (e.g., BTEB for Basic Transcription Element Binding) (12), but all have now been incorporated into a single nomenclature system that describes their phylogenetic relationships (8). Sp family members (Sp1-4) are most related to KLF9/BTEB1 (6), and the recent discovery of Sp5, exhibiting an N-terminal domain that is

proline-rich, characteristic of KLF rather than Sp family members, has strengthened this premise and provided the likely evolutionary link between Sp and KLF proteins (11). Sp and KLF members are products of distinct genes with discrete chromosomal locations. In this regard, the genes for human KLF9/BTEB1, UKLF/KLF7, and Sp1 are on chromosomes 9, 2, and 12, respectively (13-15).

In contrast to Sp/KLF transcription factors, the PR in humans and rodents has only two well-characterized isoforms, namely PR-A and PR-B. These proteins are produced from a single gene either by transcription from two distinct promoters or by translation initiation from two alternative AUG sites, and differ only by a stretch of 164 amino acids present in the amino-terminus of PR-B. A novel isoform of human PR (termed isoform S), comprised of exons 4-8 of the PR gene, has been recently described in the testis and to a lesser extent, in the uterine endometrium (16). The physiological relevance of this PR isoform is unclear, although it is possibly related to a previously described cell membrane-associated PR (17). By contrast, the functions of the PR-A and PR-B isoforms have been elucidated using gene knockout approaches (18-20). Results of these studies demonstrated the PR-A and PR-B isoforms to be functionally distinct, with biologic effects specific to a target organ or gene (21). In particular, mice lacking the PR-A isoform are infertile and exhibit severely impaired uterine phenotype characteristic of PR (A and B) null mice, while those with ablated PR-B gene are fertile and exhibit a normal uterine phenotype. The discrete functions have been attributed in part, to the preferential affinity of each isoform for distinct co-factors. For example, human PR-B efficiently interacts transcriptional co-activators GRIP1 and SRC-1, and less so with the co-repressor SMRT, while the reverse holds true for human PR-A (22). The domain structure of PR has some similarity to that of Sp/KLF members- the carboxyterminal portion of the protein contains Zn-finger DNAbinding domains, and one of its transactivation domains (AF-1) is localized within the amino-terminal region of the molecule. Unlike the Sp/KLF members, however, PR has a ligand-binding site, and additional transactivation domains (AF-2 and/or AF-3), all of which are necessary for full transcriptional activity. Moreover, dimer (homo- and/or hetero-) formation upon ligand binding is requisite for PR to bind to its DNA response elements. No such requirement has been demonstrated as yet for the basal transactivation or transrepression activity of Sp/KLF proteins, although direct interactions within and among family members, mediated by their respective non-DNA binding domains, can result in super-activation of transcriptional activity (23-25).

Studies on the phenotypes of mice null for the various Sp/KLF family members, albeit currently limited, have provided important insights into these protein's respective physiological functions. Sp1 null embryos are developmentally retarded, and die *in utero* around day 11 of gestation (26). Sp3-deficient embryos, although similarly growth-retarded, survive to term, but immediately die thereafter due to respiratory failure (27). A curious phenotype of these fetuses is a defect in late tooth

formation due to a deficiency in synthesis of dentin and enamel-related proteins. Two laboratories reporting on the phenotypes of Sp4 knock-out mice (28, 29) noted the lack of embryonic lethality, albeit neonatal death occurs within 4 weeks of birth for two-thirds of the offspring, and growth retardation for the surviving litters as well as breeding defects in males accompany the gene ablation. Female mice were also observed to have smaller uteri and to experience delayed sexual maturation (29). The phenotypes generated from KLF members, which exhibit greater tissueand cell-type specificities as well as diversity in primary structures, are anticipated to be more complex and multidimensional. Indeed, inactivation of the erythroid Krüppellike Factor EKLF/KLF1 resulted in fetal death due to reduced expression of the beta-globin gene (30), while mice lacking LKLF/KLF2, the most related member to KLF1, exhibited embryonic lethality at gestation day 11.5 to 13.5 and multiple defects including craniofacial abnormalities, retarded growth, and anemia (31). Sp/KLF family members are, thus, crucial for tissue growth and development, although they do not necessarily exhibit functional redundancies within a tissue, as would be predicted from the extensive similarities in their DNAbinding properties and expression patterns. Additional studies to ablate other KLF members are presently underway in various laboratories, which should further delineate the distinct as well as overlapping functions of these nuclear proteins in vivo.

4. EXPRESSION OF Sp/KLF MEMBERS IN THE UTERINE ENDOMETRIUM

Of the 20 or so presently identified members of the Sp/KLF family, only a few (Sp1, Sp2, Sp3, Sp4, KLF9/BTEB1, and KLF5/IKLF/BTEB2) were shown as being expressed in the mammalian uterine endometrium and associated cell types (32-35; unpublished data from our laboratories). Their distinct localization to the endometrium was largely the consequence of detailed functional analyses carried out on numerous endometrial-associated gene promoter and 5'-regulatory regions which exhibit GC/GTrich sequences, using a variety of methodological approaches including DNAse I footprinting and methylation protection assays, transient transfection assays of promoter constructs with mutated GC/GT-rich regions, gel retardation "supershifts" with recombinant proteins and their specific antibodies, and measurements of transcriptional activities of promoter constructs upon overexpression of specific Sp/KLF members (36-41). A "uterine phenotype" resulting from genetic ablation of specific family members, as was observed for Sp4 (29), was also considered to be indicative of endogenous uterine expression and function. In human endometrial carcinoma cell lines (i.e., Ishikawa, Hec-1-A, RL95), Sp1, Sp3, Sp4, BTEB1, and BTEB2 are co-expressed, albeit their relative levels appear to differ. The expression of Sp1 and Sp4 (32) as well as of BTEB1 and BTEB2 (unpublished data from our laboratories) has been demonstrated in the mouse uterus; however, their specific patterns of expression have yet to be carefully examined as a function of the estrous cycle or pregnancy. In primary cultures of endometrial cells from pseudo-pregnant rabbits, endogenous Sp1 was

shown to mediate the estrogen activation of the uteroglobin gene (42). The expression of KLF9/BTEB1 gene in the pig uterine endometrium was found to be predominantly epithelial cell-associated, coincident with that of the gene for the glandular epithelial-specific transplacental iron transport protein uteroferrin (34). Consistent with this, BTEB1 transactivates the uteroferrin gene promoter in endometrial epithelial, but not in stromal, cells (38). However, unlike uteroferrin, KLF9/BTEB1 protein is ubiquitously expressed across pregnancy (34, 43), suggesting that BTEB1 alone does not confer epithelialspecificity and pregnancy regulation to this gene's expression (38). It is not known whether other Sp/KLF family members exhibit endometrial cell-specific action: however, Sp1 and Sp3 are able to induce the promoter activities of distinct genes in both endometrial stromal and epithelial cells, suggestive of a lack of cell specificity in the transactivation properties of these nuclear proteins (40, 44). The recent demonstration that co-expression of distinct KLF members in the human placenta is correlated with specific stages of development argues for their cooperation in coordinating tissue-specific developmental processes (45).

The uterine endometrial expression of PR isoforms is not strictly temporally or spatially co-incident with those of Sp/KLF family members. Moreover, recent studies have indicated that the expression and localization of distinct PR isoforms to either endometrial stroma or glandular epithelial cell types varies with physiological or pathological status. For example, while PR-A is located in endometrial stromal cells throughout the human menstrual cycle, PR-B is found only in glandular epithelial cells during the mid-secretory phase (46). Morever, only PR-A is detectable in endometriotic tissues (47) and in uterine endometrial cancer cells (48), the latter being a consequence of the preferential inactivation of the PR-B gene by hypermethylation of associated CpG islands. Further, uterine endometrial epithelial expression of PR in many species, although not definitively classified, as either PR-A or PR-B, is cyclical in nature, with levels upregulated by estrogen and down-regulated by progesterone (49). Interestingly, the stimulatory effects of estrogen on PR-A were reported to be greater than on PR-B (50). Of the Sp/KLF members expressed in the uterine endometrium, no distinct pattern of expression with reproductive status has emerged, a likely consequence of the limited investigations carried out to date on any of these proteins.

5. TRANSCRIPTIONAL ACTIVITY OF Sp/KLF MEMBERS ON PROGESTERONE-REGULATED GENES

A number of uterine endometrial genes whose expression is under the regulation of Sp/KLF transcription factors are similarly modulated by progesterone. Examples of these include rabbit uteroglobin, human IGFBP-1, human tissue factor, porcine uteroferrin, rat insulin-like growth factor-I, and human glycodelin (33, 51-56). Although the expression of these genes are not necessarily pregnancy stage- or uterine-specific, their collective

functions during pregnancy appear to be related to particular aspects of endometrial cell differentiation requisite for conceptus implantation and subsequent growth. Progesterone regulation of these genes' expression has been demonstrated to occur at the transcriptional level, although the induction for each may be transient or delayed, suggesting distinct mechanisms of hormonal control. In addition, the promoter regions for a number of these genes do not contain canonical progesteroneresponsive elements (PRE) that typically confer progestin sensitivity to target gene transcription. The finding that GC-rich sites binding Sp/KLF family members are present within most promoter regions that are progesteroneresponsive, and the recent demonstration that Sp family members can, by binding to their recognition motifs, mediate transcriptional regulation by steroid hormones have provided a novel regulatory mechanism by which Sp/KLF members can modulate progesterone effects on gene expression. The latter mechanism is best illustrated by the example of the transcriptional control by progesterone of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21WAFI gene, which does not exhibit PRE motifs in its promoter region (57). Although this study was carried out in the breast cancer cell line T47D, p21 gene expression is ubiquitous, suggesting that similar mechanisms are likely operative in endometrial cells. The mechanism proposed is that the progesterone/PR complex serves to bridge Sp1 bound to its recognition motif, to transcriptional co-activators and basal transcription factors, leading to the formation of a functional transcriptional complex. In this scenario, physical interactions between the PR dimer and Sp1 occur, which as recent evidence suggests, are likely to be mediated by the carboxyl-terminal DNA-binding domain of Sp1 (58).

The PR is a phosphoprotein that becomes highly phosphorylated upon binding its ligand, and this modification is important for its transcriptional activity. The phosphorylation of distinct sites within PR is controlled by specific kinases, including MAPK (mitogenactivated protein kinase), the cyclin-Cdk2 complex, and casein kinase II (59) and may result in opposing effects on receptor activity (60). At least 14 phosphorylation sites, mostly at the serine-proline motifs, have now been identified in the human PR (61). Some of these are unique to the PR-B form while some are shared with PR-A, and seven of these appear to be substrates for Cdk2 in vitro (61). The latter is suggestive of the involvement of the Cdk2 pathway in PR activity. A cell cycle-associated gene whose mRNA level is induced by KLF9/BTEB1 overexpression in the human endometrial carcinoma cell line Hec-1-A, is Cdk2 (41). The possibility that KLF9/BTEB1 regulates cellular Cdk2 levels, the activity of which is important for PR transcriptional function, suggests a potential pathway for cross-talk between PR signaling and that of this KLF family member.

A novel mechanism by which PR and Sp/KLF family members may influence each other's transcriptional activity has been recently demonstrated using human endometrial carcinoma Hec-1-A sublines with high and low expression of KLF9/BTEB1 (43). Sublines with higher

BTEB1 expression had increased sensitivity to progesterone in a PR-B-dependent manner, with maximal activity of the transfected reporter construct, which contained recognitions motifs for both PR and BTEB1 in the regulatory sequences, observed at 10-fold lower concentrations of the hormone than in sublines with much diminished BTEB1 expression. The latter was shown to be due to the ability of BTEB1 and ligand-bound PR-B (i.e., PR-B homodimer) to physically interact, forming a functional complex (43). Interestingly, in contrast to the previously documented interaction of PR-B and the Sp/KLF member, Sp1, which was mediated by Sp1 binding sites, rather than by the canonical PRE which are lacking in the p21^{WAF1} gene promoter (57), the functional complex formed between ligand-bound PR-B and BTEB1was also observed in the absence of GC-rich regions that are known to bind BTEB1, and appeared to occur through the PRE. Thus, although the specific mechanisms by which Sp/KLF members promote progesterone-responsive gene expression may differ with promoter architecture, the functional interaction of PR with these family members may be a common phenomenon in progesterone target cells.

6. CO-ACTIVATORS AND CO-REPRESSORS OF PROGESTERONE RECEPTOR AND Sp/KLF TRANSACTIVATION FUNCTIONS

A number of co-activators and co-repressors that are required for transcriptional control by nuclear receptors, including that for progesterone, have now been identified (62, 63). These nuclear receptor-interacting proteins were isolated by various approaches including yeast two-hybrid, far-Western, and expression cloning, using the transactivation domains of a broad range of nuclear receptors as "bait" (63). Co-activators appear to modulate transcription by interacting with nuclear factors bound to their cognate elements within gene promoters; this results in the formation of a stable multi-subunit coactivation complex with components of the general trancription machinery for the initiation of RNA Polymerase action. A large number of nuclear activators fall under the category of Histone Acetylases (HATs), which are now widely regarded to be crucial for transcriptional activation, not only for their role as chromatin modifiers through their ability to acetylate lysine residues within histones, but also as specific modifiers of transcription factors (64, 65). The findings that PR (66) and several Sp/KLF members interact with and are distinct subtrates of several well-known HATs, which include CREB binding protein (CBP) and its homolog p300, p300/CBP associated factor (P/CAF) and Steroid Receptor Coactivator-1 (SRC-1) (67-69), suggest commonality in the mechanisms underlying these factors' transcriptional activities, and more intriguingly, the likelihood of these proteins to be engaged as co-members of a functional coactivation complex. Similar to PR, Sp1, FKLF2/KLF13/BTEB3, KLF1/EKLF and GKLF/KLF4 physically interact with p300/CBP (70-72), and acetylation of FKLF2/KLF131/BTEB3 and KLF1/EKLF enhanced their respective transcriptional activities towards target promoters. Further, upon acetylation, EKLF exhibited a higher affinity for the SW1/SNF chromatin remodeling family (73), and this interaction, specifically with two

SW1/SNF subunits, namely BRG1 and BAF1, is requisite for its transcriptional activity (73, 74). Interestingly, however, distinct HATs may fulfill the acetylation requirements for these transcription factors; indeed, while KLF1/EKLF is superactivated by CBP/p300, but not P/CAF (70), FKLF2 is a substrate for all three HATs (72). Our recent observations (Zhang X-L, Zhang D, Simmen, FA and Simmen RCM, manuscript in preparation) from transient transfection studies using human endometrial epithelial cells, that the transcriptional activity of KLF9/BTEB1 is enhanced by the addition of human CBP expression vector, but only in the presence of liganded PR-B, points to the selective utilization of co-activators by KLF family members to achieve functional specificity. Thus, functional redundancy of co-activators may not apply to KLF members, as has been suggested for nuclear receptors (62, 63). A mechanism employed by PR, when bound to antagonists rather than agonists, resulting in transcriptional repression (75) also appears to be utilized by certain KLF members acting as repressor proteins. BTEB3 and BKLF2/KLF8 were recently shown to recruit and interact with the co-repressor proteins histone deacetylase-1 (HDAC) and mSin3A, the latter occurring through the conserved alpha-helical repression motif that is common to other transcriptional repressors (76-78). Consistent with its function as a trans-activator or trans-repressor of gene promoter activity, BTEB3 can bind both HAT and mSin3A.

A novel nuclear receptor co-regulator, termed SNURF (for small nuclear RING finger protein) that was initially isolated using the DNA-binding domain of the androgen receptor as "bait" in yeast two-hybrid assay, has also been shown to mediate PR-dependent transactivation (79). The possibility that SNURF may also serve as a link between PR- and Sp/KLF-mediated target transactivation is suggested by the observations that Sp1 physically interacts with SNURF via the latter's C-terminal RING finger domain, which is distinct from the N-terminal region recognized by steroid hormone receptors (80). Other KLF member-interacting proteins have also been identified that are not utilized for ligand-dependent PR transactivation; these include the co-repressor protein CtBP (carboxyl-terminal Binding Protein) which binds KLF8 and BKLF/KLF3 (76, 81), and the Zn-finger domain of GATA-1, which binds Sp1 and EKLF (82). Thus, although PR and KLF members may employ a general mechanism for superactivation involving common co-interacting proteins, this does not necessarily preclude the use of distinct pathways that may confer specificity to Sp/KLF members within the context of cell and promoter functions.

7. REGULATION OF Sp/KLF GENE EXPRESSION

Sp/KLF members, while belonging to the same family of DNA-binding proteins, are distinctly regulated. By virtue of their perceived roles as largely "housekeeping" transcription factors, the expression of genes encoding Sp1 and its closely related members (e.g., Sp2, Sp3, Sp4) are considered to be constitutive, and their activities are altered mostly through protein modifications involving phosphorylation events. Indeed, Sp1 and other members of this family are targets of the cyclin A/CDK complex (83),

and their phosphorylation status has been correlated with distinct biological processes including differentiation and apoptosis (84). The recent findings that P regulation of the Tissue Factor gene in human endometrial stromal cells occurs through the induction of Sp1 and the concomitant inhibition of Sp3, gene expression, resulting in altered nuclear Sp1/Sp3 ratios, is the first demonstration of the hormonal regulation of these transcription factors (40). Consistent with this, pregnancy status in mice was correlated with changes in the nuclear profiles of Sp1 and Sp3 proteins, which were distinct for uterine endometrium and mammary gland (85). Members of the KLF family, however, appear to be more subject to hormonal control, consistent with their presumed distinct tissue, cell- and developmental-associated expression, although these studies remain quite limited and largely absent for endometrial cells. KLF5/BTEB2 mRNA levels were induced by the phorbol ester PMA and basic fibroblast growth factor in vascular smooth muscle cells, and this was shown to occur at the level of its promoter (86). KLF5 was also identified in the mouse mammary epithelial cell line C57MG, as a downstream target gene for Wnt-1 signaling through a protein kinase C transduction pathway (87). KLF9/BTEB1 gene expression was induced by thyroid hormone in Neuro-2A cells, consistent with the observed increase in the levels of BTEB1 transcripts in developing rat brain (88). In hepatic stellate cells, acetaldehyde increased BTEB1 mRNA levels, a process transduced by the stress-related JNK system (89). In porcine endometrium, BTEB1 mRNA and protein levels did not change across pregnancy (34, 43), suggesting that at least in this tissue and in this species, BTEB1 is refractory to steroid hormone control. In breast tumors and immortalized human mammary epithelial KLF4/GKLF gene expression, measured at the levels of both mRNA and protein, is increased relative to normal tissues and non-transformed mammary epithelial cell lines (90). Since normal mammary epithelial cells are major targets of the steroid hormones estrogen and progesterone. the latter mostly mediated by the PR-B isoform (18, 19). and the receptor levels for estrogen and progesterone are altered in normal vs. neoplastic tissues (91), this finding suggests potential control by estrogen and/or progesterone, of the expression of this KLF member.

A hint of regulation by Sp/KLF members of PR gene expression is provided by a recent study demonstrating the presence within the promoter region of the human PR-A, of two Sp1-binding sites, that together with an estrogen response element half-site, mediates estrogen responsiveness of this promoter in transient transfection studies (92). Little is known about a similar regulation of the PR-B isoform gene expression by any of the Sp/KLF members.

8. PERSPECTIVES

The emerging crosstalk between specific members of the Sp/KLF family and ligand-bound PR, albeit quite limited in scope at the present time, imply that the multiple transcriptional regulatory pathways mediated by PR in normal endometrial cells are complex and far

from being well understood. In this regard, considerations for the further elucidation of these pathways should include: a) a detailed description of the temporal and spatial patterns of expression of distinct Sp/KLF family members in uterine endometrium, including their regulation by steroid hormones and by autocrine/paracrine-acting endometrial growth factors; b) the identification and analysis of additional progesterone-responsive genes for the involvement of uterine-expressed Sp/KLF members, including whether these interactions occur by direct and indirect mechanisms; c) in vivo manipulation of the expression of these family members, alone and in combination, either by "knock-in" or "knock-out" of corresponding genes, and analysis of the functional consequences on endometrial tissue growth and differentiation, including loss or gain of progesteronesensitivity; d) investigation of the potential competition between PR and Sp/KLF members for the limiting amounts of co-factors within the context of target promoters and physiological status; and e) the dissection of the functional domains involved in the "crosstalk" between PR and Sp/KLF members by mutational analysis. Given that the involvement of Sp/KLF members on target gene transactivation is also common to the signaling mechanisms mediated by other steroid hormone receptors (93, 94), parallel analyses of their interactions with these nuclear receptors, and consequences thereof on hormonemediated cellular events, will likely facilitate further understanding of the critical aspects of steroid-dependent functions in reproduction and normal tissue growth that significantly impact human health.

9. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Research in the authors' laboratories that are cited here were supported by NIH Grant HD21961 and the USDA NRICGP. The many contributions of past and present laboratory members to these studies are gratefully appreciated.

10. REFERENCES

- 1. Clarke C.L. & R.L. Sutherland: Progestin regulation of cellular proliferation. *Endocr Rev* 11, 266-301 (1990)
- 2. Tsai M-J. & B.W. O'Malley: Molecular mechanisms of action of steroid/thyroid receptor superfamily members. *Ann Rev Biochem.* 63, 451-486 (1994)
- 3. Beato M, P. Herrlich & G. Schutz: Steroid hormone receptors: many actors in search of a plot. *Cell* 83, 8511-8517 (1995)
- 4. Bamberger, A.M, C.M. Bamberger, B. Gellersen & H.M. Schulte: Modulation of AP-1 activity by the human progesterone receptor in endometrial adenocarcinoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci. USA* 93, 6169-6174 (1996)
- 5. Kang, H.Y, H.K. Lin, Y.C. Hu, S. Yeh, K.E. Huang & C. Chang: From transforming growth factor-beta signaling to androgen-action: identification of Smad 3 as an androgen receptor coregulator in prostate cells. *Proc Natl Acad. Sc.* USA 98, 3018-3023 (2001)

- 6. Dang, D.T, J. Pevsner & V.W. Yang: The biology of the mammalian Krüppel-like family of transcription factors. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 32, 1103-1121 (2000)
- 7. Black, A.R, J.D. Black & J. Azizkhan-Clifford: Sp1 and Krüppel-like factor family of transcription factors in cell growth regulation and cancer. *J Cellul Physiol* 188, 143-160 (2001)
- 8. Bieker J.J: Krüppel-like factors: three fingers in many pies. *J Biol Chem* 276, 34355-34358 (2001)
- 9. Preiss A, U.B. Rosenberg, A. Kienlin, E.Seifert & H. Jackle: Molecular genetics of Krüppel, a gene required for segmentation of the Drosophila embryo. *Nature* 313, 27-32, 1985
- 10 Turner J. & M. Crossley: Mammalian krüppel-like transcription factors: more than just a pretty finger. *Trends Biochem Sci* 24, 236-240 (1999)
- 11. Treichel D, M-B. Becker & P. Gruss: The novel transcription factor Sp5 exhibits a dynamic and highly restricted expression pattern during mouse embryogenesis. *Mech Dev* 101, 175-179 (2001)
- 12. Imataka H, K. Sogawa, K. Yasumoto, Y, Kikuchi, K. Sasano, A. Kobayashi, M. Hayami & Y. Fujii-Kuriyama: Two regulatory proteins that bind to the basic transcription element (BTE), a GC box sequence in the promoter region of the rat P-4501A1 gene. *EMBO J* 11, 3663-3671 (1992)
- 13. Saffer J.D, S.J. Thurston, M.B. Annarella & J.G. Compton: Localization of the gene for the trans-acting transcription factor Sp1 to the distal end of the mouse chromosome 15. *Genomics* 8, 571-574 (1990)
- 14. Ohe N, Y. Yamasaki, K. Sogawa, J. Inazawa, T. Ariyama, M. Ohimura & Y. Fujii-Kuriyama: Chromosomal localization and cDNA sequence of human BTEB, a GC box binding protein. *Somatic Cell Mol Genet.* 19, 499-503 (1993)
- 15. Matsumoto N, F. Laub, R. Aldabe, W. Zhang, F. Ramirez, T. Yoshida & M. Terada: Cloning the cDNA for a new human zinc finger protein defines a group of closely related Krüppel-like transcription factors. *J Biol Chem* 273, 28229-28237 (1998)
- 16. Hirata S, T. Shoda, J. Kato & K. Hoshi: The novel isoform of the progesterone receptor cDNA in the human testis and detection of its mRNA in the human endometrium. *Oncology* 59 (Suppl. 1), 39-44 (2000)
- 17. Luconi M, L. Bonaccorsi, N. Maggi, P. Pecchioli, C. Krausz, G. Forti & E. Baldi: Identification and characterization of functional nongenomic progesterone receptors on human sperm membrane. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 877-885 (1998)
- 18. Lydon J.P, F.J. DeMayo, C.R. Funk, S.K. Mani, A.R. Hughes, C.A. Montgomery Jr., G. Symala, O.M. Conneely

- & B.W. O'Malley: Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. *Genes Dev* 9, 2226-2278 (1995)
- 19. Mulac-Jericevic B, R.A. Mullinax, F.J. De Mayo, J.P. Lydon & O.M. Conneely: Subgroup of reproductive functions of progesterone mediated by progesterone receptor-B isoform. *Science* 289, 1751-1754 (2000)
- 20. Conneely O.M, B. Mulac-Jericevic, J.P. Lydon & F.J. De Mayo: Reproductive functions of the progesterone receptor isoforms: lessons from knock-out mice. *Mol Cellul Endocrinol* 179, 97-103 (2001)
- 21. Conneely O.M, B. Mulac-Jericevic, R.A. Mullinax, J.P. Lydon & F.J. DeMayo: PR-A and PR-B null mice exhibit distinct phenotypes. 83rd Annual Meeting of the Endocrine Society. Abstract S53-3 (2001)
- 22. Giagrande P.H, E.A. Kimbrel, D.P. Edwards & D. P. McDonnell: The opposing transcriptional activities of the two isoforms of the human progesterone receptor are due to differential cofactor binding. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 3102-3115 (2000)
- 23. Courey A.J, D.A. Holtzman, S.P. Jackson & R. Tjian: Synergistic activation by the glutamine-rich domains of human transcription factor Sp1. *Cell* 59, 827-836 (1989)
- 24. Hagen G, J. Dennig, A. Preiß, M. Beato, & G. Suske: Functional analysis of the transcription factor Sp4 reveals properties distinct from Sp1 and Sp3. *J Biol Chem* 270, 24989-24994 (1995)
- 25. Okano J, O.G. Opitz, H. Nakagawa, T.D. Jenkins, S.L. Friedman & A.K. Rustgi: The Krüppel-like transcriptional factors Zf9 and GKLF coactivate the human keratin 4 promoter and physically interact. *FEBS Lett.* 473, 95-100 (2000)
- 26. Marin M, A. Karis, P. Visser, F. Grosveld & S. Philipsen: Transcription factor Sp1 is essential for early embryonic development but dispensable for cell growth and differentiation. *Cell* 89, 619-628 (1997)
- 27. Bouwman P, H. Göllner, H.P. Elsasser, G. Eckhoff, A. Karis, F. Grosveld, S. Philipsen & G. Suske: Transcription factor Sp3 is essential for post-natal survival and late tooth development. *EMBO J* 19, 655-661 (2000)
- 28. Supp D, M, D.P. Witte, W.W. Branford, E.P. Smith & S.S. Potter: Sp4, a member of the Sp1-family of zinc finger transcription factors, is required for normal murine growth, viability, and male fertility. *Dev Biol* 176, 284-299 (1996)
- 29. Göllner H, P. Bouwman, M. Mangold, A. Karis, H. Raun et al: Complex phenotype of mice homozygous for a null mutation in the Sp4 transcription factor gene. *Genes Cells* 6, 689-697 (2001)
- 30. Guy L.G, N. Delvoye & L. Wall: Expression of human beta-globin transgene in mice with the CACC motif and

- upstream sequences deleted from the promoter still depends on erythroid Krüppel-like factor. *J Biol Chem* 275, 3675-3680 (2000)
- 31. Wani M.A, R.T. Means Jr. & J.B. Lingrel: Loss of LKLF function results in embryonic lethality in mice. *Transgenic Res* 7, 229-238 (1998)
- 32. Hagen G, S. Müller, M. Beato & G. Suske: Cloning by recognition site screening of two novel GT box binding proteins: a family of Sp1 related genes. *Nucleic Acids Res* 20, 5519-5525 (1992)
- 33. Gao J & L. Tseng: Distal Sp3 binding sites in the hIGFBP-1 gene promoter suppress transcriptional repression in decidualized human endometrial stromal cells: identification of a novel Sp3 form in decidual cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 10, 613-621 (1996)
- 34. Wang Y, F.J. Michel, A. Wing, F.A. Simmen & R.C.M. Simmen: Cell-type expression, immunolocalization, and deoxyribonucleic acid-binding activity of basic transcription element binding transcription factor, an Sp-related family member, in porcine endometrium of pregnancy. *Biol. Reprod.* 57, 707-714 (1997)
- 35. Shi H, Z. Zhang, X. Wang, S. Liu & C.T. Teng: Isolation and characterization of a gene encoding human Krüppel-like factor 5 (IKLF): binding to the CAAT/GT box of the mouse lactoferrin gene promoter. Nucleic Acids Res 27, 4807-4815 (1999)
- 36. Dennig J, G. Hagen, M. Beato & G. Suske: Members of the Sp transcription factor family control transcription from the uteroglobin gene. *J Biol. Chem* 270, 12737-12744 (1995)
- 37. Gonzalez B.Y, O.P.Perera. F.J. Michel & R.C.M. Simmen: Multiple upstream promoter elements of the gene for the pregnancy-associated tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase, uteroferrin bind human endometrial nuclear proteins. *Mol. Cellul Endocrinol* 108, 51-65 (1995)
- 38. Simmen R.C.M, T.E. Chung, H. Imataka, F.J. Michel, L. Badinga & F.A. Simmen: Trans-activation functions of the Sp-related nuclear factor, basic transcription element-binding protein, and progesterone receptor in endometrial epithelial cells. *Endocrinology* 140, 2517-2525 (1999)
- 39. Simmen R.C.M, X-L. Zhang, D. Zhang, Y. Wang, F.J. Michel & F.A. Simmen: Expression and regulatory function of the transcription factor Sp1 in the uterine endometrium at early pregnancy: implications for epithelial phenotype. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 159, 159-170 (2000)
- 40. Krikun G, F. Schatz, N. Mackman, S. Guller, R. Demopoulos & C.J. Lockwood: Regulation of tissue factor gene expression in human endometrium by transcription factors Sp1 and Sp3. *Mol Endocrinol* 14, 393-400 (2000)
- 41. Zhang X-L, F.A. Simmen, F.J. Michel & R.C.M. Simmen: Increased expression of the Zn-finger

- transcription factor BTEB1 in human endometrial cells is correlated with distinct cell phenotype, gene expression patterns, and proliferative responsiveness to serum and TGF-beta1. *Mol Cell. Endocrinol* 181, 81-96 (2001)
- 42. Scholz A, M. Truss & M. Beato: Hormone-induced recruitment of Sp1 mediates estrogen activation of the rabbit uteroglobin gene in endometrial epithelium. *J Biol Chem* 273, 4360-4366 (1998)
- 43. Zhang D, X-L Zhang, F.J. Michel, J.L. Blum, F.A. Simmen & R.C.M. Simmen: Direct interaction of the krüppel-like family (KLF) member, BTEB1, and PR mediates progesterone-responsive gene expression in endometrial epithelial cells. *Endocrinology* 143, 62-73 (2002)
- 44. Gao J & L. Tseng: Distal Sp3 binding sites in the hIGFBP-1 gene promoter suppress transcriptional repression in decidualized human endometrial stromal cells: identification of a novel Sp3 form in decidual cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 10, 613-621 (1996)
- 45. L. Blanchon, J.L. Bocco, D. Gallot, A.-M. Gachon et al: Co-localization of KLF6 and KLF4 with pregnancy-specific glycoproteins during human placenta development. Mech. Dev. 105, 185-191 (2001)
- 46. P.A. Mote, R.L. Balleine, E.M. McGowan & C.L. Clarke: Colocalization of progesterone receptors A and B by dual immunofluorescent histochemistry in human endometrium during the menstrual cycle. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 84, 2963-2971 (1999).
- 47. Attia GR, K. Zeitoun, D. Edwards, A. Johns, B.R. Carr & S.E. Bulun: Progesterone receptor isoform A but not B is expressed in endometriosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 85, 2897-2902 (2000)
- 48. Sasaki M, A. Dharia, B.R. Oh, Y. Tanaka, S. Fujimoto & Rajvir Dahiya: Progesterone receptor B gene inactivation and CpG hypermethylation in human uterine endometrial cancer. *Cancer Res* 61, 97-102 (2001)
- 49. Kurita T, K-j. Lee, P.S. Cooke, J.A. Taylor, D.B. Lubahn & G.R. Cunha: Paracrine regulation of epithelial progesterone receptor by estradiol in the mouse female reproductive tract. *Biol Reprod* 62, 821-830 (2000)
- 50. Mangal R.K, R. D. Wiehle, A.N. Pointdexter III and N.L. Weigel: Differential expression of uterine progesterone receptor forms A and B during the menstrual cycle. *J Steroid Biochem Molec Biol.* 63, 195-202 (1997)
- 51. Gao J, J. Mazella & L. Tseng: Activation of the human IGFBP-1 gene epromoter by progestin and relaxin in primary culture of human endometrial stromal cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 104, 39-46 (1994)
- 52. Simmen R.C.M, V. Srinivas & R.M. Roberts: cDNA sequence, gene organization, and progesterone induction of

- mRNA for uteroferrin, a porcine uterine iron transport protein. *DNA* 8, 543-554 (1989)
- 53. Simmen R.C.M, F.A. Simmen & F.W. Bazer: Regulation of synthesis of uterine secretory proteins: evidence for differential induction of porcine uteroferrin and antileukoproteinase gene expression. *Biol Reprod* 44, 191-200 (1991)
- 54. Krikun G, F. Schatz, N. Mackman, S. Guller & C.J. Lockwood: Transcriptional regulation of the tissue factor gene by progestins in human endometrial stromal cells. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 83, 926-930 (1998)
- 55. Zhu J.L, E.N. Kaytor, C.I. Pao, X.P. Meng & L.S. Phillips: Involvement of Sp1 in the transcriptional regulation of the rat insulin-like growth factor-I gene. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 164, 205-218 (2000)
- 56. Gao J, J. Mazella, M. Seppala & L. Tseng: Ligand activated hPR modulates the glycodelin promoter activity through the Sp1 sites in human adenocarcinoma. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 176, 97-102 (2001)
- 57. Owen G.I, J.K. Richer, L. Tung, G. Takimoto &K. B. Horwitz: Progesterone regulates transcription of the p21^{wAF1} cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor gene through Sp1 and CBP/p300. *J Biol Chem* 273, 10696-10701 (1998)
- 58. Husmann M, Y. Dragneva, E. Romahn & P. Jehnichen: Nuclear receptors modulate the interaction of Sp1 and GCrich DNA via ternary complex formation. *Biochem J* 352, 763-772 (2000)
- 59. Zhang Y, C.A. Beck, A. Poletti, J.P. Clement, P. Prendergast, T.T. Yip, T.W. Hutchens, D.P. Edwards & N.L. Weigel: Phosphorylation of human progesterone receptor by cyclin-dependent kinase 2 on three sites that are authentic basal phosphorylation sites in vivo. *Mol Endocrinol* 11, 823-832 (1997)
- 60. Clemm D.L, L. Sherman, V. Boonyaratanakornkit, W.T. Schrader, N.L. Weigel and D.P. Edwards: Differential hormone-dependent phosphorylation of progesterone receptor A and B forms revealed by a phosphoserine site-specific monoclonal antibody. *Mol Endocrinol* 14, 52-65 (2000)
- 61. Knotts T.A., R.S. Orkiszewski, R.G.Cook, D.P. Edwards & N.L. Weigel: Identification of a phosphorylation site in the hinge region of the human progesterone receptor and additional amino-terminal phosphorylation sites. *J Biol Chem* 276, 8475-8483 (2001)
- 62. McKenna N.J, R.B. Lanz & B.W. O'Malley: Nuclear receptor coregulators: cellular and molecular biology. *Endocr Rev* 20, 321-344 (1999)
- 63. Robyr D, A.P. Wolffe & W. Wahli: Nuclear hormone receptor coregulators in action: diversity for shared tasks. *Mol Endocrinol* 14, 329-347 (2000)

- 64. Struhl K: Histone acetylation and transcriptional regulatory mechanisms. *Genes Dev* 12, 599-606 (1998)
- 65. Berger S.L: Gene activation by histone and factor acetyltransferases. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 11, 336-341 (1999)
- 66. Xu X, L. Klein-Hitpass & M.K. Bagchi: E1A-mediated repression of progesterone-dependent transactivation involves inhibition of the assembly of a multisubunit coactivation complex. *Mol Cellul Biol.* 20, 2138-2146 (2000)
- 67. Bannister A.J & T. Kouzarides: The CBP co-activator is a histone acetyltransferase. *Nature* 384, 641-643 (1996)
- 68. Yang X-J, V.V. Ogryzko, J. Nishikawa, B.H. Howard & Y. Nakatani: A p300/CBP-associated factor that competes with the adenoviral E1A. *Nature* 382, 319-324 (1996)
- 69. Spencer T.E, G. Jenster, M.M. Burcin, C.D. Allis, J. Zhou, C.A. Mizzen, N.J. McKenna, S.A. Onate, S.Y. Tsai, M.-J. Tsai & B.W. O'Malley: Steroid receptor co-activator-1 is a histone acetyltransferase. *Nature* 389, 194-198 (1997)
- 70. Zhang W & J.J. Bieker: Acetylation and modulation of erythroid Krüppel-like factor (EKLF) activity by interaction with histone acetyltransferases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 9855-9860 (1998)
- 71. Geiman D.E, H. Ton-That, J.M. Johnson & V.W. Yang: Transactivation and growth suppression by the gutenriched Krüppel-like factor (Krüppel-like factor 4) are dependent on acidic amino acid residues and protein-protein interaction. *Nucleic Acids Res* 28, 1106-1113 (2000)
- 72. Song C.-Z, K. Keller, K. Murata, H. Asano & G. Stamatoyannopoulos: Functional interaction between coactivators CBP/p300, PCAF, and transcription factor FKLF2. *J Biol Chem* 277, 7029-7036 (2002)
- 73. Zhang W, S. Kadam, B.M. Emerson & J.J. Bieker: Site-specific acetylation by p300 or CREB binding protein regulates erythroid Krüppel-like factor transcriptional activity via its interaction with the SWI-SNF complex. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, 2413-2422 (2001)
- 74. Kadam S, G.S. McAlpine, M.L. Phelan, R.E. Kingston, K.A. Jones & B.M. Emerson: Functional selectivity of recombinant mammalian SWI/SNF subunits. *Genes Dev* 14, 2441-2451 (2000)
- 75. Wagner B.L. J.D. Norris, T.A Knotts, N.L. Weigel & D.P. McDonnell: The nuclear corepressors NCoR and SMRT are key regulators of both ligand-and 8-bromocyclic AMP-dependent transcriptional activity of the human progesterone receptor. *Mol Cell Biol* 18, 1369-1378 (1998)
- 76. van Vliet J, J. Turner & M. Crossley: Human krüppellike factor 8: a CACCC-box binding protein that associates

- with CtBP and represses transcription. *Nucleic Acids Res* 28, 1955-1962 (2000)
- 77. Kaczynski J, J.-S. Zhang, V. Ellenrieder, A. Conley, T. Duenes, H. Kester, B. van der Burg & R. Urrutia: The Spllike protein BTEB3 inhibits transcription via BTE box by interacting with mSin3A and HDAC-1 co-repressors and competing with Sp1. *J Biol Chem* 276, 36749-36756 (2001)
- 78. Zhang J.S, M.C. Moncriefe, J. Kaczynski, V. Ellenrieder, F.G. Pendergast & R. Urrutia: A conserved alpha-helical motif mediates the interaction of Sp1-like transcriptional repressors with the corepressor mSin3A. *Mol Cell Biol* 21, 5041-5049 (2001)
- 79. Moilanen A.M, H. Poukka, U. Karvonen, M. Hakli, O.A. Jänne & J.J. Palvimo: Identification of a novel RING finger protein as a coregulator in steroid receptor-mediated gene transcription. *Mol Cell Biol* 18, 5128-5139 (1998)
- 80. Poukka H, P. Aarnisalo, H. Santti, O.A. Jänne & J.J. Palvimo: Coregulator small nuclear RING finger protein (SNURF) enhances Sp1- and steroid receptor-mediated transcription by different mechanisms. *J Biol Chem* 275, 571-579 (2000)
- 81. Turner J & M. Crossley: Cloning and characterization of mCtBP2, a co-repressor that associates with basic Krüppel-like factor and other mammalian transcriptional regulators. *EMBO J* 17, 5129-5140 (1998)
- 82. Merika M & S.H. Orkin: DNA-binding specificity of GATA family transcription factors. *Mol Cell Biol* 13, 3999-4010 (1993)
- 83. Haidweger E, M. Navy & H. Rotheneder: Modulation of Sp1 activity by a cyclin A/CDK complex. *J Mol Biol* 306, 201-212 (2001)
- 84. Kavurma M.M, F.S. Santiago, E. Bonfoco & L.M. Khachigian: Sp1 phosphorylation regulates apoptosis via extracellular FasL-Fas engagement. *J Biol Chem* 276, 4964-4971 (2001)
- 85. Tu Z.J, R. Kollander & D.T. Kiang: Differential upregulation of gap junction connexin 26 gene in mammary and uterine tissues: the role of Sp transcription factors. *Mol Endocrinol* 12, 1931-1938 (1998)
- 86. Kawai-Kowase K, M. Kurabayashi, Y. Hoshino, Y. Ohyama & R. Nagai: Transcriptional activation of the zinc finger transcription factor BTEB2 gene by egr-1 through mitogen-activated protein kinase pathwayss in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cir Res* 85, 787-795 (1999)
- 87. Ziemer L.T, D. Pennice & A.J. Levine: Identification of a mouse homolog of the human BTEB2 transcription factor as a beta-catenin-independent Wnt-1-responsive gene. *Mol Cell. Biol* 21, 562-574 (2001)
- 88. Denver R.J, L. Ouellet, D. Furling, A. Kobayashi, Y. Fujii-Kuriyama & J. Puymirat: Basic transcription element-

binding protein (BTEB) is a thyroid hormone-regulated gene in the developing central nervous system. Evidence for a role in neurite growth. *J Biol Chem* 274, 23128-23134 (1999)

- 89. Chen A & B.H. Davis: The DNA binding protein BTEB mediates acetaldehyde-induced jun N-terminal kinase-dependent alpha (I) collagen gene expression in rat hepatic stellate cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 2818-2826 (2000)
- 90. Foster K.W, A.R. Frost, P. McKie-Bell, C.Y. Lin, J.A. Engler, W.E. Grizzle & J.M. Ruppert: Increase of GKLF messenger RNA and protein expression during progression of breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 60, 6488-6495 (2000)
- 91. Graham J.D, C. Yeates, R.L. Balleine, S.S. Harvey, J.S. Milliken, A.M. Bilous & C.L. Clarke: Characterization of progesterone receptor A and B expression in human breast cancer. *Cancer Res* 55, 5063-5068 (1995)
- 92. Petz L.N & A.M. Nardulli: Sp1 binding sites and an estrogen response element half-site are involved in regulation of the human progesterone receptor A promoter. *Mol Endocrinol* 14, 972-985 (2000)
- 93. Qin C, P. Singh & S. Safe: Transcriptional activation of insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-4 by 17ß-estradiol in MCF-7 cells: role of estrogen receptor-Sp1 complexes. *Endocrinology* 140, 2501-2508 (1999)
- 94. Lu S, G. Jenster & D.E. Epner: Androgen regulation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 gene: a role for androgen receptor and transcription factor Sp1 complex. *Mol Endocrinol* 14, 753-760 (2000)

Abbreviations: KLF: Krüppel-like Factor; BTEB: Basic Transcription Element Binding; PR: progesterone receptor; IGFBP1: insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1; PRE: progesterone-responsive element; MAPK: mitogenactivated protein kinase; Cdk: cyclin-dependent kinase; Hec-1-A: human endometrial carcinoma-1-A; CBP: CREB binding protein; p/CAF: p300/CBP associated factor (PCAF); SRC-1: steroid receptor coactivator-1; HAT: histone acetylase; HDAC: histone deacetylase; SNURF: small nuclear ring finger protein; CtBP: carboxyl-terminal binding protein.

Key Words: Sp/KLF, Progesterone Receptor, Uterine Endometrium, Transcriptional Control, Review

Send correspondence to: Rosalia C.M. Simmen, Ph.D., Arkansas Children's Nutrition Center and Department of Physiology & Biophysics, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Slot 512-20B, 1120 Marshall Street, Little Rock, AR 72202, Tel: 501-320-2859; Fax: 501-320-3161; E-mail: simmenrosalia@uams.edu